# SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CASE NO. 78,370

PATRICIA DOSDOURIAN,

Petitioner,

ON APPEAL FROM THE FLORIDA FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL.

vs.

RICHARD PAUL CARSTEN,

Respondent.

## PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

WALTON LANTAFF SCHROEDER & CARSON By: JOHN PATRICK JOY Attorneys for Petitioner One Biscayne Tower, 25th Floor 2 South Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 379-6411

##

#### INTRODUCTION

In this Brief the parties hereto will be referred to as "Petitioner", "Respondent" or by their respective names, "Dosdourian" or "Carsten".

References to the Record on Appeal will be by the symbol "(R.)."

References to the Trial Transcript will be by the symbol "(T.)."

All emphasis herein is supplied unless otherwise indicated.

#### JURISDICTION

Pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v), Petitioner, Patricia Dosdourian, seeks to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal that passed upon a question certified to be of great public importance. In Case No. 90-01063, the Fourth District Court of Appeal construed the legislative modification of the joint and several liability doctrine contained within § 768.81(3), Fla. Stat. (1989) and certified to this Court the following as a question of great public importance:

IS A NON-SETTLING DEFENDANT ENTITLED TO HAVE THE JURY INFORMED OF A SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PLAINTIFF AND ANOTHER DEFENDANT WHEREBY THE SETTLING DEFENDANT'S OBLIGATION IS FIXED BUT THE SETTLING

DEFENDANT IS REQUIRED TO CONTINUE IN THE LAWSUIT?<sup>1</sup>

On August 8, 1991 this Court entered an Order postponing its decision on jurisdiction. Accordingly, Petitioner hereby submits her Initial Brief on the Merits.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

This case arose out of a November 30, 1988 motor vehicle accident which occurred on Haverhill Road, just south of its intersection with Elmhurst Road, in Palm Beach County, Florida. (T. 286). Carsten initiated this litigation on June 12, 1989 against Christine Demario and Patricia Dosdourian. (R. 957-959). Carsten asserted that both Demario and Dosdourian negligently operated their respective vehicles while travelling southbound on Haverhill Road so as to cause said vehicles to strike him while he was a pedestrian on Haverhill Road. (T. 957-959). Great Western Life Insurance Company intervened in the action to recover the money it paid to cover Carsten's medical expenses. (R. 1010-1011). The case proceeded through

Assuming this Court decides to exercise its discretion to review this case, the scope of this Court's review extends to the decision of the District Court, rather than the question on which it passed. Cf. Hillsborough Association for Retarded Citizens, Inc. v. City of Temple Terrace, 332 So.2d 610 (Fla. 1976).

The physical evidence later demonstrated that the vehicle operated by Demario actually made impact with Carsten on Haverhill Road (T. 294, 421), and that there was no impact physical damage on the Dosdourian vehicle. (T. 313).

pretrial discovery and was scheduled for trial for the period commencing February 5, 1990. (R. 973). However, on February 22, 1990 Carsten filed a motion in limine which set forth that Carsten and Demario had entered into an agreement and requested that the Court prevent Dosdourian from disclosing the "settlement" during the trial. (R. 1079-1081). A copy of this agreement appears at the last page of this Brief as Appendix "A". 3

When the parties appeared for trial on February 28, 1990 Carsten presented the motion in limine for determination and asserted that the agreement between Carsten and Demario was a release and not a "Mary Carter" type of agreement, and therefore its existence could not be disclosed to the jury pursuant to the prohibition contained in § 768.041(3), Fla. Stat. (1989). (T. 8-9). Demario's counsel also contended that the agreement was a release. (T. 16, R. 1074). Dosdourian asserted that the purpose of the agreement was beyond a mere release and settlement and was designed to permit Demario to aid Carsten in recovering against Dosdourian. (T. 9). Carsten maintained that Demario was "required" to remain in the case as a party in order for the jury to apportion Demario's negligence. (T. 12-13). Dosdourian responded and suggested

The agreement essentially provided that Carsten fully released Demario from any and all claims arising out of the November 30, 1988 automobile accident in consideration of Demario's \$100,000 liability insurance limits. However, Demario agreed to remain as a party in the lawsuit so that the jury could determine her proportionate share of negligence.

that there was absolutely no need for Demario to be a party because there was nothing the jury could do that would in any way impact or affect the rights of Demario. (T. 17).

The trial court granted Carsten's motion in limine and ruled that the agreement could not be brought to the attention of the jury unless the live testimony of Demario was presented at trial, and then the matter could be addressed only on cross-Further, the court ruled that (T. 17-18).examination. Dosdourian could not conduct such cross-examination to raise matters pertaining to the agreement if it was Dosdourian that called Demario as a witness during trial. (T. 18). of this ruling, Dosdourian requested that Demario be dismissed from the litigation based upon the agreement which both Carsten (T. 24).4and Demario contended was a release. objected to dismissal of Demario and argued that Demario was required to remain as a party (even in face of a total release) so that the jury would be able to resolve the issue of Demario's proportionate share of negligence. (T. Carsten further argued that it would be "error" to dismiss Demario. (T. 26).

Dosdourian maintained that proportionate liability meant absolutely nothing to Demario based upon the release in her favor. (T. 26). However, the trial court denied Dosdourian's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> When the trial judge inquired of Demario's counsel concerning Demario's position with regard to dismissal of Demario, counsel responded by stating that he would defer to Carsten's counsel on the issue. (T. 24).

motion to dismiss (T. 26) and proceeded to afford Demario full and complete rights of a party in the litigation (T. 29), including preemptory strikes (T. 20), even though Demario had absolutely no interest in the litigation.

Finally, the trial court ruled that Carsten could circumvent the ruling (with regard to cross-examination of Dosdourian) by simply reading the deposition of Demario. (T. 29). Notwithstanding the trial court's acknowledgement that there was no way Dosdourian could cross-examine the deposition of Demario with regard to the settlement agreement, the trial court permitted Carsten to engage in such strategy. (T. 29-30).

The record in this case reflects that thereafter, the entire trial proceeded without the jury knowing the real truth. Even before the jurors were questioned during voir dire, the trial court advised everyone that Demario was a "defendant" in the litigation (T. 34) and that Plaintiff was "jointly suing" Demario and Dosdourian, who Plaintiff claimed were responsible for his injuries. (T. 175-176). Thereafter, Demario's counsel participated in voir dire (T. 140-147), as if Demario was a true Defendant in the case. Demario's counsel lent credibility and support to Carsten's damage claim by commenting in voir dire that Carsten had been badly injured in the accident. (T. 144). These comments were made in a context wherein Demario was creating an impression that she was a presumptive adversary of Carsten. That is, Demario's counsel concluded

voir dire by inquiring of the prospective jurors about their ability to decide the case fairly to Demario and give her a fair trial. (T. 147). The entire voir dire was a sham and a charade which resulted from the agreement between Carsten and Demario, as well as the trial court's refusal to disclose the true facts to the jury or dismiss Demario from the litigation.<sup>5</sup>

Dosdourian sustained further prejudice during jury selection. Demario's counsel made repeated statements which suggested that from Demario's perspective, the only issue in the case was the respective negligence of Dosdourian and Demario. (T. 233-234). Again during voir dire, Demario, under the pretense of being a party adverse to the Plaintiff, proceeded to advise the jury that Carsten had sustained "significant damages". (T. 234).

After the jury was sworn, the trial court again advised the jury that the case was "between" the Plaintiffs, Richard

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> During his portion of <u>voir dire</u>, counsel for Intervenor Great Western Life Insurance Company also advised the <u>venire</u> panel that if the evidence established that Demario and Dosdourian were at fault in the accident, Great Western would be entitled to <u>recover</u> from them the monies it paid for Carsten's medical expenses. (T. 228).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> This statement created the impression before the jury panel that one of Carsten's purported "adversaries" was essentially stipulating that Plaintiff's damage claim was uncontestable.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Although Demario's counsel attempted to maintain a semblance of an adversarial posture by stating that he was "not saying that I won't talk about damages", in point of fact Demario's counsel <u>never</u> asked one question of a witness or made one argument throughout the entire trial which in any way contested Plaintiff's damage claim.

Carsten and Great Western Insurance Company against the Defendants, Demario and Dosdourian. (T. 241).

The theme that Demario was a true Defendant in the case was continued during opening statement. Plaintiff's counsel advised the jury that the accident in suit occurred only because of the negligence of "these two Defendants" (T. 264) and that Carsten was entitled to a substantial verdict as a result of the Defendants' negligence. (T. 265).

In its opening statement, Great Western again emphasized that if the evidence showed that the Defendants' negligence caused Carsten's personal injuries, Great Western could "recover" from the Defendants the expenses it paid. (T. 266).

The prejudicial effect of the secret settlement and the failure to dismiss Demario continued through opening Demario's counsel did not assert in his opening statements. statement that Carsten was comparatively negligent for jaywalking (T. 269-273), but rather maintained that Demario was wholly without fault in the accident. (T. 269). contended that it was Dosdourian's actions in preventing Carsten from continuing to walk across the highway which produced the accident. (T. 273). Again, Demario's counsel, a presumptive adversary of Carsten, endorsed the credibility of Carsten's damage claim by advising the jury that he doubted that he would "be addressing damages very much." (T. 273).

The substantive testimony at trial on the liability issue was presented through Dosdourian, the deposition of Demario and

various other lay and expert witnesses. The investigating police officer arrived after the event occurred and outlined the physical evidence found at the scene. (T. 287). Trooper Timothy Watts testified that Carsten was struck by the left front of the Demario vehicle and there was no evidence that Demario attempted to brake. (T. 294-295). The evidence demonstrated that Carsten had been struck approximately 14 feet from the sidewalk running along the western side of Haverhill Road. (T. 301). The investigating police officer confirmed that there was no impact to the Dosdourian vehicle. (T. 313).

The testimony of Demario was presented through deposition and established that she was operating a BMW motor vehicle in the right-hand lane travelling south on Haverhill Road on the day of the incident. (T. 419). Dosdourian's vehicle was travelling in the same direction as Demario, but was in the adjacent left-hand lane and somewhat ahead of Demario. (T. 419). Both vehicles were travelling at 35 miles per hour. (T. 420). Demario stated that after proceeding through the intersection on Elmhurst Road, the next thing she was aware of was a body on her vehicle. (T. 420). Demario stated that she did not see Carsten cross her southbound lane and perceived that he approached her vehicle from the left. (T. 421).

Dosdourian testified that she was also travelling southbound in the left hand lane on Haverhill Road at approximately 6:00 p.m. on the evening in question. (T. 432). As she proceeded through the intersection on Elmhurst Road she

observed Carsten and a dog standing in the roadway. (T. 434). Carsten was standing on the broken line that separates the two southbound lanes and the dog was in front of Carsten in the left southbound lane. (T. 434). When Dosdourian observed Carsten and the animal they were approximately 20 or 30 feet ahead of her (T. 435), and she swerved to the left to miss the animal, which was in her lane of travel. (T. 436). Ιt appeared to Dosdourian that Carsten pulled on the leash of the dog as he was facing east. (T. 437). After she passed Carsten and the animal Dosdourian looked in the rear-view mirror and saw Carsten as he was hit by Demario. (T. 437-440). Dosdourian testified that she never made contact with Carsten. (T. 440-441). Rather, at the scene of the accident Demario admitted that she was the one who made contact with Carsten. (T. 438-439).

As Demario and Dosdourian were proceeding southbound through the intersection at Elmhurst Road, a vehicle travelling west on Elmhurst had come to the traffic signal at Haverhill Road and was waiting in the left-turn lane for the appropriate traffic signal. (T. 320-322). The operator of this vehicle testified that as the light changed to green for westbound traffic on Elmhurst Road, two motor vehicles came through the intersection southbound on Haverhill Road. (T. 322-324). One witness confirmed that the southbound vehicle in the left lane was slightly in front of the vehicle in the right southbound lane. (T. 325). After this, the westbound vehicle made a left

turn to travel south on Haverhill Road and the operator of the vehicle observed Carsten's dog jumping around and Carsten's body in the roadway. (T. 326-328). The operator of the westbound vehicle admitted that he did not see the actual impact occur. (T. 336). The passenger in the vehicle facing Haverhill Road testified that she observed two vehicles proceed southbound through the intersection of Elmhurst Road while the traffic signal was green for westbound traffic. (T. 447).

The basic theory of Carsten's claim against Dosdourian and Demario was that Carsten had been crossing the roadway and as he was attempting to cross, he could not proceed across the left southbound lane of travel occupied by Dosdourian, but instead attempted to either jump back, step back or pull his dog in a backward motion. This placed Carsten in Demario's lane of travel where he was struck by the Demario vehicle. (T. 541-545). Plaintiff's expert witness connected Dosdourian with the event by either striking the dog, which was on a leash, or breaking the leash itself. (T. 541). The theory asserted was that if Dosdourian and Demario had not proceeded through the red traffic signal, no accident would have occurred. (T. 545). The evidence reconstructed after the incident further demonstrated that, rather than being in the crosswalk at the intersection, Carsten located was approximately 75 to 80 feet south of the Elmhurst Road intersection on Haverhill Road when he was struck by Demario. (T. 520).

On the question of damages, Carsten presented numerous lay and expert witnesses. Although Dosdourian's counsel did not cross-examine all of these witnesses (T. 580, 651, 659, 671, 692, 764), Demario's counsel did not cross-examine any of them.

(T. 580, 594, 605, 619, 651, 659, 671, 692, 699, 764, 799).

With regard to Carsten's claim for loss of earning capacity, prior to the accident he was employed by Belvedere Construction Company as a pipe layer and was earning approximately \$11.00 per hour. (T. 607). However, based on the injuries sustained in the accident Carsten was demoted to a laborer's position and was earning \$8.00 per hour. (T. 607). Carsten contended that if he continued in his position as a laborer earning \$8.00 per hour, his future earning loss would be \$202,000.00. (T. 795). However, if he lost his laborer's job due to his injuries and was forced to take an unskilled position at \$5.00 per hour, his future loss of earnings would instead be approximately \$383,000.00. (T. 796). In support of this claim Plaintiff offered the testimony of representatives of Belvedere Construction Company and also a vocational rehabilitation expert. (T. 599, 608, 693, 772). In an effort to counter this claim Dosdourian's counsel crossexamined all of these witnesses. (T. 605, 619, 700, 799). However, when it came time for Carsten's other purported adversary to counter this claim, Demario's counsel, at each instance, responded: "No Questions". (T. 605, 619, 699, 799).

In closing argument Carsten's counsel devoted the overwhelming majority of his time on the liability issue arguing that Dosdourian was the party responsible for the accident. (T. 852-857). Although Carsten's counsel contended that both Defendants were negligent, he suggested to the jury that liability should be apportioned as follows: Dosdourian - 80%; Demario - 20%; Carsten - 0%. (T. 858, 861).

In Demario's closing argument, her counsel bolstered Carsten's contention that he was not comparatively negligent. Demario's counsel asserted that it was appropriate for Carsten to assume that he could safely cross the roadway and that Carsten acted reasonably under the circumstances. (T. 883). Demario concluded his full support for Carsten on the liability issue by contending that Dosdourian was 100% at fault for causing the accident and that both Carsten and Demario were free of fault. (T. 886). Further, Demario's counsel made no argument whatsoever in closing to counter Carsten's claim for substantial damages, other than to say that the incident was a very tragic accident. (T. 888).

Against this confusing "opposition" by Demario, Dosdourian's counsel argued that Carsten was comparatively negligent in not crossing at the corner crosswalk and for failing to observe and avoid the oncoming vehicles. (T. 896-898). Dosdourian also asserted that she was not at fault in the accident. (T. 907). Although Dosdourian admitted that Carsten had sustained a serious injury (T. 894), her counsel

argued that the evidence revealed that Carsten was able to return to work after his extended recovery and that he had worked continuously thereafter. (T. 894). With regard to the loss of earnings issue, Dosdourian further argued that Carsten's supervisors had admitted that there was no plan to lay him off or that he was going to be fired in the future. (T. 895).

In rebuttal closing, Carsten's counsel maintained some credibility by stating that he did not believe that Demario should be found to be completely free from fault. (T. 920). However, it is clear from the record that the overwhelming majority of Carsten's rebuttal closing was directed towards countering the arguments made by Dosdourian's counsel. (T. 910-920).

The perception of the jury that Demario was a true adversary of Carsten, which had been maintained throughout the entire trial, was reinforced in the jury instructions. The trial court advised the jury that there were two distinct claims in the case, one against Demario and one against Dosdourian. (T. 926-927). The Judge instructed the jury that although the claims had been tried together, each was separate, and "each party is entitled to have you separately consider each claim as it affects that party." Consistent with customary practice when true adversaries are involved, the Judge instructed the jury as to the issues for the determination on the claim of Richard Carsten against Defendant

christine Demario. (T. 927). Finally, with regard to the verdict form, the trial judge instructed the jury that the Court would take into account each Defendant's percentage of negligence in entering judgment against that Defendant. (T. 933-934). These instructions were inaccurate and misleading.

After deliberation, the jury returned its verdict (T. 953) and found the following percentages of negligence: Dosdourian - 35%; Demario - 55%; Carsten - 10%. The jury then proceeded to award medical and hospital expenses in the amount of \$193,206.27, and an additional \$22,240.00 for medical and hospital expenses in the future. (T. 953). The jury also awarded \$21,369.00 for past lost earnings, along with the sum of \$383,631.50 for future loss of earning capacity. Intangible damages of \$80,000.00 for past losses and \$1,300,000.00 for future losses were also awarded. (T. 953-954).

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