IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CASE NO: 78,370

∕J. WHITE ID 1992 CLERK SUPREME COURT By-Chief Deputy Clerk

PATRICIA DOSDOURIAN,

Petitioner,

vs.

A

S

RICHARD PAUL CARSTEN and CHRISTINE DEMARIO,

Respondents.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PARIENTE & SILBER, P.A. 400 Australian Avenue, South Suite 855 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (407) 655-6640 and LARRY KLEIN, of KLEIN & WALSH, P.A. Suite 503 - Flagler Center 501 South Flagler Drive West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (407) 659-5455

| | <u>Page</u> |
|---------------------------------|-------------|
| Preface | 1 |

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

ARGUMENT

IS A NON-SETTLING DEFENDANT ENTITLED TO HAVE THE JURY INFORMED OF A SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PLAINTIFF AND ANOTHER DEFENDANT WHEREBY THE SETTLING DEFENDANT'S OBLIGATION IS FIXED BUT THE SETTLING DEFENDANT IS REQUIRED TO CONTINUE IN THE LAW SUIT?

The Trial Court Did Not Err In Refusing To Dismiss The Settling Defendant As A Party

Petitioner first argues that the trial court erred in refusing to dismiss the settling defendant as a party. The trial court properly refused to dismiss the settling defendant based on Whited v. Barley, 506 So.2d 445 (Fla. 1st DCA), rev. denied, 515 So.2d 230 (Fla. 1987). In that case the plaintiffs and one defendant had entered into an agreement and covenant not to enforce judgment, which the trial court found to be a release limiting the settling defendant's liability to his policy limits of \$10,000. The trial court then dismissed that defendant from the lawsuit. Plaintiffs then sought to set aside the settlement agreement because it had been entered into on the basis that the settling defendant would remain as a defendant in the case. The lower court denied that motion and the plaintiffs appealed. The First District reversed, stating on page 447:

> Nevertheless, we find the trial court erred in dismissing Barley from the lawsuit. Although the settlement agreement resolved the issue of the amount of Barley's liability to plaintiffs, it did not resolve the issue of Barley's proportionate share of negligence. Therefore, we reverse the trial court's order dismissing appellee Barley as a party to this action.

Just as in <u>Whited</u>, <u>supra</u>, the proportionate share of the settling defendant's negligence was also an issue in the present case under Section 768.81, Florida Statutes, which provides in relevant part:

> (3) Apportionment of damages. In cases to which this section applies, the court shall enter judgment against each party liable on the basis of such party's percentage of fault and not on the basis of the doctrine of joint and several liability; provided that with respect to any party whose percentage of fault equals or exceeds that of a particular claimant, the court shall enter judgment with respect to economic damages against that party on the basis of the doctrine of joint and several liability.

Since the above statute modified joint and several liability, the proportion of negligence of the settling defendant in the present case was an issue at trial, regardless of whether the settling defendant remained as a party or was dismissed. <u>See</u> <u>Messmer v. Teacher's Insurance Company</u>, 588 So.2d 610 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), in which the Fifth District decided that the use of the word "party" in the statute would include any tortfeasor, regardless of the tortfeasor's status as an actual party in the lawsuit. Since the proportionate negligence of the settling defendant would have been an issue in this case, regardless of whether he was a party or dismissed, the trial court did not err in refusing to dismiss him. Whited, supra.

Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.250(b) provides that parties may be dropped by order of court "on such terms as are just." The dropping of parties has been held to be discretionary and irreversible on appeal in the absence of abuse of discretion. <u>Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co. v. Vosburgh</u>, 480 So.2d 140 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in the present case in refusing to drop the settling defendant as a party.

The Settlement Agreement Should Not Have Been Admitted In Evidence

Petitioner next argues that the trial court erred in refusing to admit the settlement agreement in evidence. The agreement provided (R 1081):

The parties to this agreement are Richard Carsten and Christine DeMario.

It is acknowledged between the parties, Richard Carsten and Christine DeMario that Richard Carsten was involved in an automobile accident on November 30, 1988. It is also acknowledged that Richard Carsten sustained very significant and permanent injuries to his brain, including permanent brain damage, to both legs, and other parts of his body. In addition, Mr. Carsten sustained a loss of earnings of approximately \$20,000.00 and there is a strong likelihood that he will suffer a loss of earning capacity as a result of his injuries preventing him to perform his duties as a pipe layer. Moreover, it is acknowledged that Richard Carsten, as a result of the injuries from the automobile accident of November 30, 1988, has suffered significant pain, discomfort, mental anguish, and the loss of the capacity to enjoy life. The damages for the intangibles far exceed \$10,000.00.

It is agreed by both Richard Carsten and Christine DeMario, that one Patricia Dosdourian also contributed substantially to cause the injuries to Richard Carsten through her negligence and carelessness in the manner in which she operated her vehicle.

As a result of the above, Mrs. DeMario tenders the full amount of her liability insurance policy limits of \$100,000.00, and agrees that in order to determine the proportionate share of negligence between Christine DeMario and Patricia Dosdourian, Christine DeMario will remain as a party in the lawsuit entitled "Richard Paul Carsten v. Christine DeMario and Patricia Dosdourian", case number CL 89-5801 AE, until the conclusion of this case. Richard Carsten accepts the policy limits of \$100,000.00 and the agreement of Christine DeMario to remain in the lawsuit.

Christine DeMario represents that \$100,000.00 is the total amount of insurance available to her to protect her from liability arising out of the automobile accident of 11/30/88. The acceptance by Richard Carsten constitutes a full release to Mrs. DeMario for any and all claims arising out of the automobile accident of November 30, 1988.

Although the petitioner has attempted to characterize the above agreement as a secret agreement or deceptive, this agreement was never a secret or deceptive. It was the plaintiff who disclosed the agreement and filed a motion in limine for the trial court to determine whether it should be admissible (R 8-18, 1079-81).

In <u>Ward v. Ochoa</u>, 284 So.2d 385, 387 (Fla. 1973), this court defined the type of agreement which should be admitted into evidence as follows:

> A "Mary Carter Agreement", however, is basically a contract by which one co-defendant secretly agrees with the plaintiff that, if

such defendant will proceed to defend himself in court, his own maximum liability will be diminished proportionately by increasing the liability of the other co-defendants. Secrecy is the essence of such an arrangement, because the court or jury as trier of the facts, if apprised of this. would likelv weiah differently the testimony and conduct of the signing defendant as related to the non-signing defendants. By painting a gruesome testimonial picture of the other defendant's misconduct or, in some cases, by admissions against himself and the other defendants, he could diminish or eliminate his own liability by use of the secret "Mary Carter Agreement." (Emphasis supplied).

This court also stated in <u>Ward v. Ochoa</u>:

The search for the truth, in order to give justice to the litigants, is the primary duty of the courts. Secret agreements between plaintiffs and one or more of several multiple defendants can tend to mislead judges and juries, and border on collusion. To prevent such deception, we are compelled to hold that agreements such must be produced for examination before trial, when sought to be discovered under appropriate rules of procedure. If the agreement shows that the signing defendant will have his maximum <u>liability reduced by increasing the liability</u> of one or more co-defendants, such agreement should be admitted into evidence at trial upon the request of any other defendant who may stand to lose as a result of such agreement. (Emphasis supplied). Id. at 385.

Although the petitioner has argued at length about whether the agreement in the present case was a Mary Carter agreement, the Fourth District concluded that it was not, and it clearly is not. The obligations of the settling defendant were not affected in any way by the outcome of the trial.

We cannot, in candor, argue to this court that all settlement agreements other than Mary Carter agreements should never be admitted into evidence. One reason why there should not be a hard and fast rule is because what does or does not constitute a "settlement agreement" is limited only by the imagination and ingenuity of lawyers.² Another problem with an inflexible rule is the different factual possibilities involving number of parties, relationships of parties, liability, vicarious liability, indemnity, contribution, etc. The only feasible answer to the certified question is that a settlement agreement should be admitted into evidence, in the discretion of the trial court, if the trial court deems it necessary to admit such agreement in order to prevent the deception this court intended to prevent in <u>Ward v.</u> Ochoa, supra.

The most important reason why this court should not answer the certified question by unconditionally holding that all such settlement agreements should be admitted into evidence is because such a holding would, for all intents and purposes, eliminate settlements in cases involving multiple defendants, where some defendants will not settle. Our public policy favoring settlements is so firmly established in our jurisprudence as to need little or

² See for example, the description of the "high/low" agreement described in <u>Weddle v. Voorhis</u>, 586 So.2d 494 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991).

no discussion. <u>Robbie v. City of Miami</u>, 469 So.2d 1384 (Fla. 1985).

The reason that the admission into evidence of this type of settlement agreement would eliminate this type of settlement is because the evidence of such a settlement could not help but prejudice one side or the other. Depending on the relationship between two defendants, the evidence of settlement could be as prejudicial to the non-settling defendant as to the plaintiff. The landmark decision in this case explaining why evidence of settlement is inadmissible is <u>City of Coral Gables v. Jordan</u>, 186 So.2d 60 (Fla. 3d DCA), which was affirmed by this court at 191 So.2d 38 (Fla. 1966). In that case the trial court had admitted the evidence of a settlement by the defendant with one of two plaintiffs. In reversing, the Third District stated on pages 62 and 63:

> Upon the other hand, the knowledge of the settlement by the driver with the defendant was immediately and completely destructive to the possibility of a fair trial between the plaintiff and the defendant. Every juror knew that plaintiff's witness, Bell, was the driver of the motor scooter, and that appellant, defendant, intended to show that the deceased had met his death solely through the negligent acts of Bell. In this atmosphere, when the jury became aware that the city had settled the claims of Bell and his father, appellant's defense that Bell was the sole cause of the accident evaporated.

> We recognize that the decisions in our sister states are not uniform and that there is respectable authority to the contrary. However, in the absence of controlling precedent, we must adopt that rule which is in

accordance with reason and justice. The public policy of this state favors amicable settlement of disputes and the avoidance of litigation. This policy is implemented by excluding evidence of an offer to compromise and a release or covenant not to sue tort feasors.

The Third District cited what was then Section 54.28, Florida Statutes, which is now Section 768.041, Florida Statutes (1990), which provides that a release or covenant not to sue shall not be made known to a jury. Our public policy favoring settlements would also be thwarted by the promulgation of a rule that settling defendants have to be dismissed, because plaintiffs could not take the risk of entering into settlements under those circumstances either. The reason why the plaintiff insists, as part of the settlement, that the settling defendant remain in the case as a party, is so that the non-settling defendant cannot use the "empty chair" argument in order to convince the jury that the accident was entirely the fault of a non-party.

There Was No Deception Or Prejudice In The Present Case Which Would Justify A New Trial

In the present case the petitioner has attempted to make it appear that there was deception in the trial court which prejudiced the petitioner in the eyes of the jury. Petitioner's arguments are not supported by the record.

From a factual standpoint, although it is totally obscured in petitioner's brief, two independent eyewitnesses to the accident,

James Cote and Lori Cataldo, testified that both defendants ran the red light at the intersection just before where the accident occurred, and both defendants were traveling in excess of the 35 m.p.h. speed limit (R 324, 325, 337, 447). The jury found the settling defendant, DeMario, 55% negligent, the non-settling defendant Dosdourian (petitioner), 35% negligent, and the plaintiff, 10% negligent (R 1211).

Petitioner repeatedly complains that the settling defendant did not contest that the plaintiff was severely injured. In fact the severity of plaintiff's injuries was never an issue in this case. It was admitted by counsel for petitioner as well (R 894). Neither defendant offered any testimony to contradict the plaintiff's brain damage or orthopedic injuries. Nor did they present testimony to rebut plaintiff's accident reconstruction expert or his vocational rehabilitation expert.

None of the comments petitioner complains about were inaccurate, deceptive or prejudicial. Petitioner argues on page 6 that there was something wrong with the settling defendant's counsel telling the jury that the "only" issue was the negligence of the two defendants. All this counsel said in this regard was, on voir dire, that the jury would be asked to decide the negligence by either or both of the defendants (R 234). Since both of the defendants had run a red light and were traveling in excess of the speed limit, this statement was not deceptive.

Petitioner complains on page 11 that the settling defendant's counsel did not cross-examine witnesses on damages, but admits that her counsel did not cross-examine all of those witnesses either. Petitioner has demonstrated no prejudice in that regard. Nor is there any merit to petitioner's argument on page 12 that plaintiff's counsel argued to the jury that petitioner was more responsible than the settling defendant for the accident. Nor was there anything wrong with the settling defendant's counsel arguing that petitioner was 100% at fault since any defendant in the same position, whether he had settled or not, would do likewise.

The Fourth District could not find any prejudice as to the petitioner and stated on pages 871-872 of its opinion:

We find it difficult to identify actual prejudice resulting from the nondisclosure of the agreement or the continued participation of DeMario in the action. The appellee claims there is none because the settling defendant, having limited her liability already, did not have the same motivation as the settling defendant did in <u>Mary Carter</u>. The appellant, on the other hand, cites numerous instances at trial in which she claims DeMario's counsel openly supported the case <u>for</u> the plaintiff and <u>against</u> appellant. We are unable to conclude with any certainty that such was the case. (Emphasis added)

Dosdourian v. Carsten, 580 So.2d 869 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991).

The jury verdict further refutes petitioner's claim of prejudice, since the jury found petitioner only 35% at fault and found the settling defendant 55% at fault. There was no prejudice answers the certified question, the judgment in the present case should be affirmed.

ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO REDUCE THE JUDGMENT AGAINST DOSDOURIAN BY THE AMOUNT OF THE CARSTEN SETTLEMENT WITH DEMARIO.

Petitioner is not entitled to a set-off. Notwithstanding the fact that the Fourth District, in footnote 1 on page 2 of its opinion, stated that the petitioner could seek a set-off in the trial court on remand, the Fourth District noted that the petitioner made no request for a set-off in the trial court. Since a set-off is clearly not the type of fundamental error which can be raised for the first time on appeal, there should be no remand for a set-off.

Nor would petitioner be entitled to a set-off on the merits. Section 768.041, relied on by Dosdourian as authority that there should have been a set-off, by its terms, only applies to tortfeasors who are jointly liable for the same damages. In <u>Ellingson v. Willis</u>, 170 So.2d 311 (Fla. 1st DCA 1964), the court stated on page 316:

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